
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

CLARA LEE, :
Plaintiff, :

:
-vs- : Civil No. 3:02cv819(PCD)

:
CITY OF HARTFORD/HARTFORD : 

PUBLIC SCHOOLS and :
ANTHONY AMATO, :

Defendants. :

RULING ON DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS

Defendants move to dismiss the complaint.  For the reasons set forth herein, the motion is

granted in part.

I.  BACKGROUND

The following facts are taken as true from the allegations in the present complaint.  Plaintiff is

employed by defendant City of Hartford/Hartford Public Schools (“HPS”).  Defendant Anthony Amato

is employed by HPS as the Superintendent of Schools.  

Plaintiff served as vice principal of Weaver High School from fall, 1994 through August, 1999. 

In August, 1997, HPS hired Christine Mahoney as principal of Weaver, thus making her plaintiff’s

direct supervisor.  Mahoney allegedly took a number of actions adversely affecting plaintiff, including

interfering with plaintiff’s positive relationships with others in the school and school community,

assigning tasks to plaintiff not befitting her position , refusing to afford plaintiff training opportunities,

reducing plaintiff’s support staff, issuing negative performance evaluations for plaintiff in the 1997-1998

and 1998-1999 school years, and commenting that plaintiff’s advanced age might be affecting her

abilities.
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On February 10, 1999, plaintiff filed a discrimination complaint with the human resources

department in which she alleged that Mahoney’s mistreatment of her was motivated by age

discrimination or irrational animosity directed at her.  Mahoney responded to the filing of the complaint

by increasing her mistreatment of plaintiff.  HPS did not investigate the complaint and allowed Mahoney

to replace plaintiff, thereby forcing plaintiff out of her position at Weaver.

On August 28, 1999, defendant Amato met briefly with plaintiff but quickly directed plaintiff

elsewhere.  On August 31, 1999, Amato permanently removed plaintiff from Weaver  and offered her

a position as vice president of a middle school, a position lower in both prestige and salary.  Under the

circumstances, plaintiff was forced to take the inferior position.    

Mahoney was removed from the position of principal at Weaver after plaintiff’s transfer.  The

vice principal position at Weaver later became available, but plaintiff was not permitted to apply for the

position.  In April, 2000, defendants advertised an opening for executive vice principal of Hartford

Public High School.  Plaintiff applied for the position, having met the position requirements, but her

application was denied as defendants did not notify the principal of Hartford High School of her

application.  The position was filled by a younger, less qualified applicant.  Since May, 2000, other

administrative positions have become available, and defendants have refused to provide her an

opportunity to return to a high school.

Plaintiff filed a three count complaint alleging retaliation for filing a complaint in violation of the

Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 621-634 (1994 & Supp. IV 1998) (“ADEA”)

(“Count One”), violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983  through deprivation of her rights to due process and

equal protection(“Count Two”) and breach of contract (“Count Three”).
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II.  DISCUSSION

Defendants move to dismiss portions of the complaint arguing that the City of Hartford is not a

proper party to this action, that defendant Amato may not be liable under  the ADEA and that the

breach of contract claim is preempted by § 301 of the Labor Management Relations Act (“LMRA”),

1947, 29 U.S.C. § 185. 

A. Motion to Dismiss Standard

A motion to dismiss is properly granted when “it is clear that no relief could be granted under

any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations.”  In re Scholastic Corp. Sec.

Litig., 252 F.3d 63, 69 (2d Cir. 2001) (quoting Hishon v. King & Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 73, 104 S.

Ct. 2229, 81 L. Ed. 2d 59 (1984)).  A motion to dismiss must be decided on the facts as alleged in the

complaint.  Merritt v. Shuttle, Inc., 245 F.3d 182, 186 (2d Cir. 2001).  All allegations in the

complaint are assumed to be true and are considered in the light most favorable to the non-movant. 

Manning v. Utilities Mut. Ins. Co., Inc., 254 F.3d 387, 390 n.1 (2d Cir. 2001).  

B.  City of Hartford

Defendants argue that plaintiff fails to allege that the City of Hartford (“City”) engaged in any

unlawful activities and that the City of Hartford and HPS are separate and distinct entities.  Plaintiff

responds that the City is the Hartford School District, and that all employees of Hartford Public

Schools are employees of the City.

Recent events foreclose the possibility that the City is a proper party to this action.  On April

18, 1997, in response to systemic problems in the public school system, the State of Connecticut

dissolved the Hartford Board of Education and transferred all authority to the State Board of Trustees. 
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1997 Conn. Special Act 4 §§ 1, 2 (enacted Apr. 18, 1997).  As such, “[t]he  State Board of Trustees 

. . . [became] solely responsible for the management of the Hartford school district.”  Id. § 2.  As a

result the City effectively became a spectator in the administration of the school system.  Although the

Mayor of Hartford is included as a member of the Board of Trustees, he has no vote in proceedings, id.

§ 3, thus no control.  Additionally, none of the remaining members of the Board of Trustees may be “a

relative . . . of any person employed by  the  Hartford School District  or  the  city  of  Hartford.” Id. 

The Act further requires assignment of all contracts and agreement made on behalf of the Hartford

Board of  Education to the State Board of Trustees.  Id. § 4.   The Superintendent is elected by vote of

the school board members pursuant to CONN. GEN. STAT. § 10-157(a), and thus, as a consequence of

the Act, is elected by vote of the Board of Trustees.  The only involvement the City thus has in the

school system as a result of the Act is the fiduciary obligation of providing funding to the school system.

See 1997 Conn. Special Act 4 §§ 4(d), 6(a).

As such, in the time period involved in the present complaint, the City has been stripped of any

control over the administration of the school system and the State of Connecticut has taken over all

aspects of its administration.  Plaintiff therefore argues that the funding provided as ordered by the State

subjects it to liability, or the fact that the school rests within its limits requires the same.  The City has no

indicia of control in the day-to-day affairs of HPS, The relevant dates in the complaint fall within the

period in which the State assumed control, thus geography alone is offered as the basis for the

complaint against the City.  Absent any ability to influence events within the school system, either

positively or negatively, the City cannot be held liable for the acts or omissions complained of by

plaintiff.  The City is dismissed as a party to the present action. 
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C.  Anthony Amato

Defendants argue that the ADEA does not provide for individual supervisor liability.  Plaintiff

apparently concedes the point as to defendant Amato.  Such is not surprising given the holding in

Tomka v. Seiler Corp., 66 F.3d 1295, 1317 (2d Cir. 1995), declining to hold an employer’s agent

liable under Title VII, and the similar definition of “employer” as used in the ADEA.  Compare 29

U.S.C. § 630(b) with 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(b).  As statutory analyses under Title VII or the ADEA are

generally interchangeable, see EEOC v. AIC Security Investigations, Ltd., 55 F.3d 1276, 1279-80

(7th Cir.1995), Tomka is dispositive of the question of individual liability.  Such is consistent with the

views of other courts that have directly addressed the question of individual liability. See Smith v.

Lomax, 45 F.3d 402, 403-04 & n. 4 (11th Cir. 1995); Birkbeck v. Marvel Lighting Corp., 30 F.3d

507, 510 (4th Cir. 1994); Miller v. Maxwell’s Int’l Inc., 991 F.2d 583, 587--88 (9th Cir.1993). 

Count One is dismissed as to defendant Amato. 

D.  Breach of Contract

Defendants argue that the breach of contract claim must be dismissed as it requires

interpretation of a collective bargaining agreement and as such, would be precluded by the LMRA. 

Plaintiff’s allegations are, however, sufficiently ambiguous to preclude resolution of the issue.

Although plaintiff alleges that defendants breached an employment contract, plaintiff nowhere

alludes to the source of the employment contract. Plaintiff alleges a violation of provisions in “her

employment contract with HPS” and of “personnel policies.”  Although, as defendants contend, a

collective bargaining agreement may well be the source of the contractual rights to which plaintiff refers,

such is not apparent from the allegations.  Plaintiff apparently agrees as much in arguing that
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“defendants’ assertion that plaintiff does not have a contract other than the Union Contract . . . is

misplaced.”  Although a complaint filed in federal court need only conform to a liberal notice pleading

standard, see Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N. A., 534 U.S. 506, 122 S. Ct. 992, 152 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2002),

notice requires that plaintiff provide sufficient factual allegations from which defendants may discern the

nature of claim against them.  Such is not possible with the present allegations.  Counsel is well aware of

the source of contractual obligations that provide a basis for the breach of contract claim and as such is

obligated to identify the same.  The motion to dismiss Count Three is therefore denied, however plaintiff

will on or before April 11, 2003, file an amended complaint including sufficient factual allegations from

which defendants may discern the source of the employment contract.

III. CONCLUSION

Defendants’ motion to dismiss (Doc. No. 11) is granted in part.  The City of Hartford is

dismissed as a party.  Count One is dismissed as to defendant Amato.  Plaintiff shall file an amended

complaint addressing the issues raised above on or before April 11, 2003.

            SO ORDERED.

Dated at New Haven, Connecticut, March ___, 2003.

__________________________________________
Peter C. Dorsey

              United States District Judge


